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APPEARANCES
Raufman & Cunkerland, by
r. Frank R, D=a2Santis,
on behalf of ths Plaintiff;.-
¥itchen, Y=2ssner & Deery, by
Mmr. Eugene B. Meador,

on beshalf of the Defendant.

sTIlPrpurLaT™Ilens

It was stipulated by and between counsel
for Plaintiff and Defendant that this deposition may
be taken in stenotypy by Angelika P. Veres, that said
stenotype notes may he subsequently transcribed into
typewriting in the absence Oof the witness; that the
reading and signing of the deposition by the witness
are waived; and that all regquirements of the Ohio
Rules of Civil Procedure with regard to notice of

time and place of taking this deposition are waived.
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BY MR,

Q

MICHAEL DEVERAUX, of lawful age,
a witness herein, called by the
Defendant for the purpose of
examination, as provided by the Ohio
Rules of Civil Procedure, being by me
first duly sworn, as hereinafter

certified, deposed and said as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION OF MICHAEL DEVEREAUX
MEADOR:
Tell us your name, please?
Michael Devereaux,.
And you're a doctor; is that right?
Yes.
Dr. Deverecaux, my name 1s Gene Meador and I
represent Dr. Chepla, who is a Defendant in
this lawsuit, and you're well aware of that, I
understand?
Yes, sir.
You've been iddentified as a potential expert
witness 1IN this case and vou prepared a repori
which | see 1S 1In front of you.

This is your deposition and my purpose is

to find out what your opinions are and what
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opinions vou might render in connection with

this lawsuit.

MR, MEADOR: The deposition here
ie being conducted by agreement of
counsel; is that correct?

MR, DeSANTIS: It sure 1S.

MR. MEADOR: And I have provided
you, Frank, with a cony of our expert's
report by Dr. Mann; is that corrﬁcf?

MR. DeSANTIS: Yes, you have.

Before we begin, might I look at your file to
know what you have in it so | can save a
little time?

Okavy . The only thing | would mention to you,
Dr. Mann I think is the report you were just
referring to, I Just saw it a few minutes
before, so | haven't had a chance to go over
it in detail yet, but other than that --

Why don"t you read Dr. Mann's report while I'm
looking through your file?

All right.

(Discussion had off the record.)

We're back on the record. Dr. Devereaux, |
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just reviewsd your file and I found =-- this is

vour complete file that you gave me; is that
correct?

Absolutely, complete.

And in that file, I see the large portion of
it is the Hillcrest Hospital record pertaining
to the admission of Kathleen Nabozny?
Correct.

With the date of admiscion being July 23rd,
1986 and the date of discharge being September
4th of 19862

Uh-huh.

There is also a copy of your report that you
gave 1IN this case?

Yes.

And I assume that that's the only renort that
you authored 1In this case?

Correct.

And that report contains your opinions --
Absolutely.

-- in regards to this matter?

Uh-huh.

Are there any other opinions that you have

regarding this matter that are not contained

in that report?
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None whatscever.

I also have been given some correspondence
from Kaufman and Cumberland, I believe there
are two letters datsed February -- 1if I could
look zt those letters-- Februzry 27th, 1989,
mother letter dated August the 17th, 1988; |is
that correct?

Yeah, uh-huh.

And thenh there's a third letter dated October
20th, 1986 from Kaufman and Cumberland; is
that correct?

Yes. That's not to me, that's to Hillcrest
Hospital, Just. a cony,

And then there's a letter dated August 19th,
1988 indicating your fees for reviewing and
préparing vour report in this matter; is that
right?

Yes.

And then you also have a copy of Dr. Donald
Mann's report which was given to you today; is
that right?

Right.

Now, there was also a two page -- 0Ohe page
with two sides to it, with your handwritten

notes?
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Yes.

Ind if you could just tell usS what that is,
though?

Whéen | see a patient. I take ¢ pjgtory, I sit
down with the patient and I then will jot down
some notes to remind mysa2lf to dictate sone
points, based on the patient's history. There
mey be Some dates, ard so forth, an it.

I then use it alorg with the hospitel
records when 1 sil down ané dictate my full
report after I see the patient, usually abcut
an hour later.

For example, 1t lists the blood prescsure
reading | took and | have a rough drawing of
the chin region, it shows an outline Of the
sensory disturbance the patient has, things of
this sort. This is a handwritten note nearly
In your handwriting?

In my handwriting.

I notice it's in two different colors of ink.
blué and black; is that correct?

Yes.

When were those nctes prepared?

In the presence of the patient.

On the day that you saw the patient?
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Yeeg.
And -~
Not on the day I saw the patiert, while I saw
the patient.
Which would be on the day that you =zw the
patient?
Yes.
Can you tell which notss were prepared first,
the notes in black ink or the notes in blue
ink?
Well, probably what I did was I ran out of ink
or left my pen in mv office when I went back
to get -- while the patient was disrobing,
because the comments that are in blus irk
indicate her blood pressure, which were done
durirg the physical examination, ard indicate
the sensory loss.

There is also -- what I probably did was,
and this is pulling it from way out, I
couldn't remember the type of organism that
she had. She didn't know, 80 I checked back
in the notes while she was disrobing and
reminded myself that it was stavnhylococcus and

also I couldn't remember what kind of a

catheter was used to administer the antibiotic
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My experience with this is simple. One

time years ago when I testified 1In court, an
eight page report which I had tzken hours to
orepare Wwas not the subject of my
cross-eéxaminaticn, but was the scratch notes
which | couldn't even read and it was not a
service to the court, a service to the
patient, a service to anybody.

So, I have always torn those notes up soO
that that was never an issue, and | didn"t do
It this time and | just don't think that that
serves -- there's nothing hidden here, no
secrets. I stand by what I wrote here.

I understand. I'm not savying there is
anvthing in ydur notes that would be different
from your report.

All I ask you to do IS let the judge at
least decide, then --

NO.

-- as to whether or not the notes --

That isn't the Jjudge's role td be involved in
the practice of medicine. That IS my role.

I absolutely agree with you.

And what you have here is the practice of

medicine. It is the same thing | do exactly
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13
And here I am and I'm ready for examnination.

And you, being a witness in this case, you
have to submit yourself to some of the legal
roles that are placed upon you,.

Correct.

One of those roles involves being
cross—-examined on any of your notes.

Okavy.

Which would include the note that you intend
to destroy.

I've also -- let me make some other
statements.

I've probably thrown out some other notes,
too. The only reason I kept that is that it's
a face sheet with the patient's address, and
so forth.

Other notes are completely done away with
because there's no reason to keep them. I do
that generally.

That's only a one page sheet because that
is the patient's address at the top and that's
the way we do things in my office. We no
longer do.

All nates axe thrown away now because the

address sheets, the face sheets are placed on
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14
thea inside of the chart. So, as you can see,

this contains her name, her zce and whoever
the referral was and that's why I usually keep
that.

The rest of this, undoubtadly because
there's no other informationuhere about any
other aspects OFf my physical examination, went
onto the next page, so this is even a fragment
of my notes, so it would be absurd.

How many other pages of other notes have been
previously destroyed?
Probably a couple. I probably‘threw them aut
at the time I did my history and physical.
Can you do me this courtesy of reading vyour
notes at least into the record, even though
we're not going to have your original note
because you're going to destroy 1t?
See if I can read it.
MR. DeSANTIS: Let me interject.
One of the problems he‘é having, Géne,
he took these notes however long ago,
they were handwritten, he prepared his
report within a short time of taking
these notes.

You didn"t serve him with a
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15
subvoena requiring him to bring these

records. He has no legal obligation to
maintain thoss records. It's a product
of his ordinary --

MR. MEADOR: I understand.

MR, DeSANTIS: -- medical practice
to get rid of handwritten notes after
he's done dictating his typewritten
report and I -

MR. MEADOR: As you and I both
know, though, Frank, most all of the
doctors in town take notes when they
examine a patient, they are subject to
discovery and they are -——

MR. DeSANTIS: That's not the
issue hsare. There was no discovery
served on Dr. Devereaux. There"s no
subpoena served.

I mean, as a courtesy, he brought
his file here, but he doesn't want to
provide this record.

MR , MEADOR: There wasn't a
subpoena served on my expert witness,
either.

MR. DeSANTIS: Nor on mine.
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16
YR, MEADOR: And we produced those

records.

MR, DeSANTIS: As I did,

MR. MEADOR: Ard you know darn
well that I'm entitled to look at those
records and if there's a page of notes
that are in there, they should not be
destroyed and they should be at least
admitted to the court.

If the court decides they're not
something that should be used for
cross-examination, let the court
decide.

MR. DeSANTIS: Well, right now,
we're at an impasse.

I can't even read all of this and your judge,
no matter who he was, couldn't read it either.

I start out by making the comment "facial
and mouth numbness, right side. Right mental
region, feeling of drooling and wetness.
Numbness" ~-- | don"t say numbness.

I say, "right side of tongue, feels like
Novocain. Face Eeels enlarged. Sensation of
the area fecling hard, feeling firm, although

it looks,"” quote, "okay," end guote.
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When I was making comments under the

tongue, "the tip tingles. The back of it
feels fat and numb. Right lower gum and lower
buccal mucosa" -- those aren't the patient's
words, obviously -- "numb. External auditory
canal tingling, feels like it"s Talling asleep
only to the touch of a Q-tip.

"When pressing in the right TMJ region,
tingling, right cheek. Some chronic pain,
right TMJ region" and then I make a note to
myself, question mark, "damage to the jaw
joint from infection."

At first, "slight right side of mouth,"
quote, "drawing," end of quote, "droop."
Family noted that this went away four to five
months afterwards," and then I put
"staphylococcus, teeth extracted, July 8th,
1986, 7-26" -- I can't read my writing, it may
be "drain abscess, pterygopalatine and
intratemporal space abscess," but that was
just an insert.

Then I had two to three days after the
extractions, gquote, "bad pain," end of quote,
"couldn't open mouth. About seven days later,

increased pain. One to two days later, face
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May I see the note again?

MR. DeSANTIS: Gene, for the
record, Dr. Devereaux has allowed vyou
an opportunity to examine the document.

MR. MEADOR: I'd like to get a
copy of it so | really could examine
it.

THE WITNESS: YouUu couldn't read
it. I can barely read it.

MR. MEADOR: I would say that it
should be preserved as evideﬁce and I
don't see how it would hurt you in any
way, Doctor, by preserving it.

THE WITNESS: Fine, I mean, this
is just silliness really.

The notes here, I have a question regarding
the top area here where you have reference to
days, where the patient couldn't open her
mouth, and I wonder if you could read that
again, where It says =--

Yes, all right,

MR. DeSANTIS: IT there's any
doubt about what your writing reflects,
you can refer tOo your report.

If you just can"t read it, you
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that what your notes mean?

No. I'm going from the time of the
extractions.

Okay. So, the seven days later, which is
referenced In your notes, coes to seven days
after the extractions? If you don't know --
I can't readkmy notes, Il just don"t know. |
live by this is what she told me right here.
Okay .

I just can"t read scratch notes to me,
that | may have? made some points, | may have
asked her questions latex on which I didn"t
write down here that then led to my final
report, This is what I believe she told me.

There®s no ulterior motive In this,
Well, my point is, I'm not saying there is,
but why destroy whatever evidence you might
have of your notes?

I usually don"t, I don"t keep scratch notes
In my charts, whether it"s legal or not legal.
I just don"t do 1it.

You do know that a lot of doctors keep the
notes that they use when they examine =--

A lot of doctors don't write Seven page single

space notes.
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before approximately?
It's -- by "in court,"” do you mean actually in
a court of law or including depositions?
First I'm going to ask you about in the court
cf law?
I've done it once this year, this calendar
vyear. | would guesstimate that in the eleven
years I've been in Cleveland, almost twelve,
I've probably gone to court six, seven times
maybe. Maybe eight.
And there was One occasion on which you were
cross-examined off of your notes and it was
not a very good experience, I take 1it?
It was a disservice.
And you believe that's --
It didn't help him either. He 1lost.
And you believe that your report would have
been a more accurate --
Absolutely.
-- method for the attorney to question you on?
Yes.
MR. DeSANTIS: Objection. Go

ahead. N

Uh-huh.

Your answer is yes?
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Bo you khow the names of any of the cases in

which you gave depositions?

Of the irdividuals?

Yes.

The patisnts?

Yes.

I don't know that it would be appropriate to
mention them if I could.

I mean, I can name some of the attorneys,
but I bluntly can't -- I just can"t sit here
and rfemember the names of the people involved
frankly.

If you want the names of some of the
attorneys --

Do you keep a record of the cases 1iIn which you
review?

They're in my files.

Is there a way that you could find out the
names OFf the cases in which you testified in?
Probably.

Would you be willing to prepare a list of
those cases?

Of all the cases that I've done legal?

We'll, we're talking about two or three

. &
depositions per year and I don"t know whether
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or not yvou keep your records for the eleven or

twelve years you've been in Cleveland. We're
talking about 20 to 25?2
It would mean going through a series of charts
I mean, all of my case records, pulling them
out, checking to see if there was a deposition
involved or if it was just a case that I
rendered an opinion on and it never came to
court. It"s going to take a lengthy amount of
time.
Can it be limited in a way so that you wduld
only look back, say, to the last couple of
years?
No. We don't keep records by year. We are
now, but we didn't tken. so, I would have to
go through the charts in alphabetical order.
The charts do have a different color wheﬁ
they're legal, so that éhey could be pulled
out, and then we'd have to check and see which
cases I did depositions on.
Would it be too much trouble to ask you for
the names OF two or three cases In which
you've done depositions instead of asking you
all the cases-~

Il think that can be done, but I'd be curious
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Well, you can get back to me or get back to

Frank.

It will involve some expense on your part.
Well, you can let me know what kind of expense
it will be and we can go from there.

MR. DeSANTIS: Let me, just for
the record, so it's clear, Doctor,
you're not agreeing fo do that, you're
agreeing to look into whether ihere's
any legal impediments to doing it or
whether you have any legal obligation
to do it, neither of which will 1
advise you, but I would encourage you
to seek that kind of 3egal advice on
your own. Is that accurate?

THE WITNESS. Fine.

How many cases have you reviewed over the last
you say you've been reviewing cases for eleven
or twelve years; is that correct?

Oh, I've been here for almost twelve yearé,
twelve years next July and I certainly didn"t
do anything initially, so I can't really
remember when It was that I sfarted seeing
cases and I've seen cases IN a rather modest

trickle since then.
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times a year.

For example, I reviewed the first case for
an attorney this year today. That's the first
case I've done in 1989 was today. Just
happened to turn out thatkthis deposition was
the same day.

So, at that rate, It would be four this
year. I don't do a great deal of legal work.
I keep it under -- keep it to an appropriate
minimum so it doesn't look like I'm doing too
much quite consciuosly. |l also make a
conscious effort to do both deféﬁse work and
plaintiff's work.

Can you give me a percentage?

I probably do about, oh, three out of four
cases I see are for the defendants. Probably
75 percent defense, 25 percent for the
plaintiff.

If that's an error, it's probably an error
that would be more than 75 percent for the
defensé.

Of the twelve years that you've been in this
area, you said you didn"t remember when you
first started reviewing cases?

It was probably several years, I would guess.




10

2.1

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

31
After you had been here three or four years is

when you started roughly?
Well, I don't -- it's not the kind of
information | store, so I'd have to check and
I honestly don't know. I wouldn't want to
mislead you.
Since you've given depositions before, I'm not
going to go through all of the ground rules,
but, of course, if you don't understand one of
my questions, feel free to tell mé because I
really don"t want you to answer any questions
that you don't understand.

In addition to that, 1f you are giving me
a guess ONn something =--
I will tell you.
-- or kind of speculating without being able
to say to a reasonable degree of medical
certainty, I'd appreciate it if vou could let
me know that we're 1iIn that sort of an area.
Absolutely.
How did you come about to be contacted to
review this matter?
That I really can"t recall. I must have been

contacted through the law firm, however, and

not by the patient.
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Sometimes a patient comes to me and I find

out later it's & legal case. Because of my
initial face sheet, I'd say the patient was
referred by a law firm. Tkat IS your law
firm.
That would be XRaufman and Cumberland?
Yes. And 1t would have been the letter that I
wrote to Mr. Richard Zeiger, but I cannot
recall whether they just called my office and
asked if I could see a case, that's what
frequenﬁly happens, and if I'm noﬁ doing too
much work, I'll say yes and if I am doing too
much work, I'll say no and it was probably
something to that effect.
Prior to your réviewing this ease, had you
ever reviewed a case for Kaufman and
Cumberland before?
I hdnestly don't know.

THE WITNESS: Have I?

MR. DeSANTIS: It°s not my

deposition.

I honestly don"t Kknow,
Do you know any of the attorneys at Kaufman
and Cumberland on a -- for any other reason

other than this particular lawsuit?




0

ao
El
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

33
No, although I can't swear to you that |1

haven't spoken to them before, involved in
another case before. I know I never met you
before today, Mr. DeSantis, so, no, I haven't
had any close contact with their firm and I
wouldn't be a bit surprised if this 1s the
first case I've seen for thenm. I just don't
know.
You look at the letterhead here and you see
the attorneys listed in that firm?
Yes.
None of them are recognizable to you; the
name, that is?
Mo, not right off the top of my head.
What about Charles Young? He's ncot on there,
but I think he was with that firm. Did you
know Mr. Young?
I can't recall right at this moment.
Do you know when you were first asked to
review this case?
Well, it would have been sometime probably --
I saw the patient August 19th, 1988.

It would have been sometime probably
several months before that because my waiting

list to see patients is usually several
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months, particularly for non-emergent cases

and so, | would imagine sometime in the early
summer of spring of 1987.

Do you believe you were contacted by phone by
an attorney at that time; as far as you can
tell?

As far as I can recall. They may have called --
that's often what happens. Sometimes my
secretary will then tell them, "Well, send a
note and we'll look at the case," because I
generally will not see every patient. If it
doesn't look like it has any merit, | will not
become involved.

Did you also review records when you prepared
your opinion?

I absoclutely did.

And the records that you've reviewed are

contained on your report dated August 19th,

19887

Correct.

Can we mark your report so that we've it
clearly identified on the record?

Sure.

(Defendant's Exhibit A marked for
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identification purposes.)

One thing that would be worth noting, perhaps,
since we're into a lot of technicalities, I
made a few penciled in corrections because of
some punctuation errors, and so forth, which I
have checked here.

Did not change the repdrt in any way, just
changed the tense O0f a few verbs and if that"s
an issue, I'1ll let you know,

Does that -- that shows up On the copy tha£
you have?

Yes.

We can make a copy of that and I can see what
your changes are.

Maybe 1 should just look at them and see
if there is anything I would think would be
noteworthy. Oéherwise we can just go on.
Mainly the kind of things that my 7th grade
English teacher, Miss Butz, would 1like me to
correct.

Thank you, According to your report, which
we've marked Defendant's Exhibit A, you said
%hat was your only report and that coﬁtains

all of your opinions that you"ll be giving in
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connection with this lawsuit; is that correct?

Correct.

Your repcrt indicates you reviewed the
Hillcrest Hospital chart, the report and notes
from Dr. Cole, the office records from

Dr. Chepla and the office records from

Dr. Sangrik?

Uh~-huh.

Are there any other records that you reviewed

or any other materials since you prepared your

report?

The only other thing that"s already mentioned
was the report that was handed éo me today
from Dr. Donald Mann, a neurologist in the
community who I know well.

I don't believe any other information has
been sent to me since this initial packet was
received.

How is it that you know Dr. Mann?

He is a neurblogist in the community,
associated with University Hospitals, aé am I,
and I have seen him from time to time.

I have even sent him cases for legal work
when | have felt that | shouldn't také

anymore, and other cases as well.
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What is his reputation in the community?

He's a competent neurologist.

And you know Dr. Cole, I take 1t?

Very well.

And how do you know him:

Again, he is a neurologist who's had a strong
association with University Hospitals and
Metropolitan General Hospital for years;
again, he was here when I came here.

I'm not quite sure how long he's been
here, but he is a highly regarded neurologist
in thé community.

Do you know either of those doctors on
anything more than just a business level?
Both of them have been to my house oOn occasion
for social gatherings of the Department of
Neurology, things of that nature.

You don't -- you never knew Kathleen Nabozny
prior to seeing her:; is that correct?
Absolutely correct. I seen her oné Eime.

I assume you don't know anyone else in her
family?

Not to my knowledge.

Do you have a current resume of your academic

Curriculum vitae, sure.
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-- credentials and your work experience?

I do,
so, to save time, could we --
I'll be more than happy to send you a copy.
Do yvou have a copy of it here that I might
look at to see if there's anything that I have
to ask you about it?
Not with me and, frankly, my secretary, now
that it 1S six o'clock, is gone. Almost six
o'clock, and I don't know Where théy file
them.

If it's important, | could take a break
and go to the office and see 1T I can find a
copy.
Well, 1 think to expedite matters, maybe if
you would just send it to me, if you could
just give me a general overview of your
academic credentials and your work experience
without geing into every detail since I will
have your resume, but I would like ydu to
particularly emphasize anything that you
believe to be particularly helpful to you when
you reviewed this case.

For example, if there's a particular

publication that you were responsible for, you
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patients over the years with dental abscesses

of one type or another, producing headache and
other general problenms.

So, from the neurologic perspective, I can
assure you that there have been many a
patients I have seen with headaches I have
referred to dentists for evaluation, some of
whom have turned out to have abscess;
certainly not all, but it IS something that I
am familiar with.

With facial abseesses?

In association with neurological problems, it
is something that I have seen, but primarily
in my indigent population, but not solely.
Have you seen any patients with a
pterygopalatine abscess after a dental
extraction?

Probably not.

Have you seen any patients with a
péerygopalatihe abscess, regardless of what
the --

Yes.

-- prior procedures might have been?

Yes.

Oon how many occasfons have you seen a patient?
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I couldn't tell you. Infrequent.

Less than five patients?

Probably. And those were __ if | recall
correctly, | don"t think any followed dental
extraction.

Most of those were related to cancers and
other situations, facial tumors and what have
youe.

Would you agree with the statement that a
pterygopalatine abcess infection IS rare?
Of course rare IS a nonspecific term. Ié S
certainly not a common problem.

It s not common, you're not going to say that
it's rare, though?

Well, I'm just -- what"s the difference
between -- when you define the difference
between uncommon and rare, I'll answef that.

Thése are nonspecific térms. I have tbld
you that in twelve years, I've seen less than
five patients, certainly Eess than five
patients with pterygopalatine abseess.

That's a falrly, you know, direct
statement, that It"s a very uncommon problem.
It's probably safe to say it's a rare problem,

whatever rare means.
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You wouldn"t --

It's not unheard of.
You wouldn't be surprised if in the 31 years
of Dr. Cole's practice, he has never seen a
patient other than Xathleen Nabozny with a
pterygopalatine abscess infection?
No.
MR. DeSANTIS: Objection.

I wouldn™"t be surprised at all. Actually tha£
speaks to his skill.
Did you review or rely on any medical
literature when reviewing this case?
No, not in -- well, not in the initial

eparation. Il did rely on ﬁhe literaiure
when I reviewed some of the subdivisions qf
the mandibular division of the trigeminal
nerve in terms of the names of some oOf thosé
divisions, and so forth. Yes, | did rely on
the literature for that.
That was for the purpose of identifying those
subdivisions of the mandibular division of the
trigeminal nerve?
Yes. Specifically | had to recheck the names
of the nerves from the posterior division that

innervated the auricular region, the earl.
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1S there anythincg else IR his notes that was

Particularly impressive to you in connecticn
with your preparation for your opinions in
this case?

Well, the other thing, I mean good neurology
always impresses me and this is excellent
neurology. He made on the bzsis of a history
and physical examination a c¢iagnosis that was
correct.

I believe that on page two of your report, you
indicate that Dr. Cole correctly diagnosed a
extracranial infection on the right side of
the face?

Uh-huh, extracranial.

Arnd I was wondering if that wés Dr. Cole's
diagnosis?

At the time he saw her --

At the time he saw her or was that something
that was later on found by him?

That is correct, that is probably something
that was found later on and in reality, what
he stated was that it is imperative to rule
out an infection and he had -- he did say,

which 1s probably extracranial rather than

intracranial.
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July 8th, 1986, at least this IS -- this was

my impression of when the problem began, so
that there was nothing In her history of
consegence prior to that time and that"s when
I begin my discussion,

Okay. And that"s your first sentence that

o

"The patient was in her usual state ¢f health
until July" --

Stable health.

"Stable health until July 8, 1986 when she
underwent multiple tooth extractions,"
parenthes IS, "1l because of sensitive dental
caries and periodontal disease."

Then you go 0On to state that "The patient
states in three to four days, (4 days
according to Dr. Cole's report,)"” close
parenthesis, "she developed pain In the right
side of her face."

That 1S something that the Plaintiff told
you, £hree or four days?

She told me that, and then |1 looked at

Dr. Cole's, and that"s why as I say, I try,
although 1 don"t consider it terribly
important, you obviously do, I try to keep it

separate.
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MR. DeSANTIS : Gene, let him

finish.
It would have some effect ONn a staph
infection.
And what effect would it have on a staph
infection? A positive effect I assume we're
talking about?
Yes, it would be of some value, bud it would
not --
Be the most effective antibiotic.

Then your report reads on, "About two
weeks after the surgery, she noted numbness in
the right half of the tongue and over the
tight lower lip to the midline.®

That information was from the plaintiff,
Kathleen Nabozny?

Yes.

Then it says, "Also about this time she
developed tingling In the 4th and 5th digits
of the right hand, and 4th and 5th toes of the
right foot."

That information you also received from
Kathleen Nabozny?

Yes.

And do you understand that at the two week
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findings.
What were you referencing?
I wrote in my note "absent deep tendon
reflexes” and really it was absent deep tendon
reflexes at the knees. Not a real issue here.
She's obese and it"s difficult to elicit
reflexes.
These seven findings that pr. Cole found, did
you find any evidence in the records that you
reviewed or in talking with the patient that
any of these seven things were found prior to
July 23rd, when Dr. Cole examined her? She
was never (given a neurologic examination prior
to that time, | understand?
Thay g my unaérstanding, yes.
But I mean, is there any evidence that you've
seen iIn the records to indicate that these
seven findings were present prior to July
23rd?
MR. DeSANTIS: Objection. Go

ahead, if you can answer.
I don"t 1list any of this having been preseﬁt
beforé that. It is conceivablé in reviewiﬁg --
it might be an error there in terms of what

the dentist may or may not have found in his
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fallow-up exams that he had, but | don"t

fot

3]

recall.

(ad

She probably had some fullness in the ‘

4 face, and I'm not even sure of that.
3 Q Do you know whether Dr. Cole found any 5
) evidence of a fever on July 23rd?
7 A I do not recalf him recording a temperature.
‘ 8 I would have been remiss if -- I don't think
9 there was a temperature listed here, so |
L4 10 didn"t make a comment one way or the other.
11 Q Is the finding of a temperature significant if
12 it was found?
13 A Yes, it would be significant.
14 o} Why would it be significant?
153 A Well, it could be a sign of infection.
Is Q What about malasia, what 1S that?
;E 17 A Malaise. Malaise is a term that is used to
| 18 describe a patient having a lack of energy.
19 Probably the best definition iIs --

; 20 description for anybody reading this wauld be
E> 21 the kind of feeling you have when you have the
¥ 22 Elu, you just feel lousy, lack of energy, lack
1 23 of get up arid go, a lot of colloguialisms that
j; 24 people-use and doctors use.

E 25 Q Would that be a significant finding that you
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would have listed?

It's not a finding so much as it is a physical
examination. It really is more a descriptive
terﬁ far a complaint that a patisnt would
have.

And Dr. €ole's records did not indicate that
complaint?

I can"t specifically recall whether he used
the word malaise in his report at this point.
Now, Dr. Cole apparently was puzzled about the
numbness that was apparently found in the
right fingers and toes. Are you also puzzled
by that?

Yes,

why 1is that so puzzling?

BecaUse it doesn't make sense,

Is that because there are different sets of
nerves that would affect those regions of the
body?

Correct, and that is the art of good medicine,
sorting through the things that are
unimportant or as we say in the trade, thé red
herrings to get to the crux of the matter and
that"s what he did, Because that would

suggest actually a problem in the high spinal
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cord OK 1In brain and what it meant in reality,

I cannot say.
You don't have any explanation for that today?
No. I'm sure it was real and I"'m sure it was
there. I just can't explain it.
Take a look at page three Of your report; you
indicate in the second complete sentence on
that page, "In addition, there wasS complete
opacification O0f the right maxillary antrum
due 10 sinusitis."

What 1S a complete opacification of the
right maxillary antrum?
The maxillary sinus on the X-rays appéared
cloudy, meaning that it contained En this case
material which would have suggested that the
sinus wasn't draining, It was obstructed, and
probably that there was pus in the sinus.
And you know that when Xathleen Nabozny waé
admitted to the hospital, she was administered
Clindamycin; IS that correct?
ClEndamyc in.
Is that an appropriate antibiotic for the kind
of abscess that the patient had?
Well, frankly, at that point, let me See --

yes, it was.
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And why do you say that?

Because she was seen by obviously skilled
physicians who maintained her on the drug for
42 days and she got better.
e don't know whether another antibiotic would
have worked gquicker., do wye?

MR. DeSANTIS: Objection.
That is outside nmy area of expertise andg I
won't comment on that.
Very good. Let me ask you about the third
paragraph on page three, in the middle of that
paragraph, you have a parenthesis where you
say, "I am not clear from his note as to
whether she had objective findings of loss of
sensatiocn within the mandibular division of
the right trigeminal nerve at that time."

Why don't you review that paragraph and
tell me what it was that you were not clear
about?

Yeah. It was just from -- and again, this
would have to bes a cuestion that would be
addressed to Dr. Cole and it may havé been
brought up in his deposition. Just looking at
his physical examinations, following -- in

follow-up, I wasn't clear just from reading
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there was no numbness and then it came back?

I suspected that that was not the case, but I
was not sure. That's why I made it very clear
so that there would be no confusion for
anybody reading this about that.

The patient herself reported that she had
had constant numbness to me.
Are your opinions regarding the permanency of
her condition and the -- on causation as to
her condition, are they based upon a
continuous --
NO, not mecessarily.
-- series of numbness?
That woulc frankly not be my opinion. My
opinicn would be that her findings that I saw
when | examined her were related back to the
abscess.
What I'm asking you, 1is it important for you
to have a continuous sequence of numbness
without any periods of no numbness?
Well, it would be nice to know that for sure,
okay, it would be nice to know that for sure.
That would be absolute proof positive that
there was a cause and effect relationship, if

it didn"t get better, it didn"t get worse.
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In the patient's past medical history, 1S

there anything in there 0f significance to you
regarding your findings ox opinions 1in this
case?

In the past medical history? I'm sorry.

Yes.
No. It IS -- the pernicious anemia, of
course , was interesting, i1f you will,

curiosity, but I don't think it has any.
relationship with her focal sensory
complaints.

Why iSs it interesting to you?

Well, it can produce neurologic phenomenology.
What kind of neurologic phenomenology?
Generally 1t begins with problems in the lower
extremities. The exact pathophysiologic
disturbances are in dispute.

It méy produce a peripheral neuropathy, as
some would say, with numbness, tingling, loss
of sensation in the lower éxéremiéies,
impairmént dr loss of the deep téﬁdon reflexés
in the lower extremities.

It can also present as a spinal cord
disturbance, so-called subacute combined

degeneration and can produce disturbances,
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again, which are characteristically seen in

the lower extremities.

There also may be associated with it
changes in cognitive function, sometimes
referred to as megaloblastic madness
associated in pernicious anemia with the
changes in thought.

BUt there was no evidence of any of this
in here and in fact, as I understand 1it, she
was being treated with B-12, although at the
time I saw her, I'm not sure if the diagnosis
had ever really been established because there
was suspicions on a first Schilling test, but
I was not aware if this had ever been dons.

It was supposed to have been repeated aﬁd
I don"t know that it was ever repeated and I
just don"t know if the diagnosis was fully
established or not.

She was being treated for 1it, and B-12 1is
routinely administered to patients in our
society.

I don't know what that -- it doesn't by
any means prove that she has pernicious
anemia.

Under your neurological examination, why don't
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there's some reason you're looking for a

problem with olfaction.

Let me ask you this. How did you test cranial
nerve five?

It is --

That's the only nerve I understand that's
affected iIn this particular case; 1s that
right?

At the time of my examination. At the time of
Monroe Cole's examination, there was a
suggestion tht the 7th cranial nerve was also
involved, but at the time of my éxamination,
thare was no evidence of involvement.

So, the only nerve 1in which | found any
abnormalities Qas the fifth cranial nerve,
trigeminal nerve.

How did you test that nerve?
It is tested in several ways.

One looks, first of all, for sensation
over the face. That's probably its major
function, although it has some other very
important functions.

It is responsible for sensation over the
entire face, the -- to a certain extent, the

top of the head, if you will, the mouth and
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cont¢nts of the mouth, the gum, the tongue,

the side oi the mouth and buccal mucosa, the
lips, to a point roughly down to the chin
line, you know, along the underasnrface af the
mandible. Th:t iS its major function or one
of its major functions I suppose is more
accurate.

It also Innervates the muscles of
mastication, muscles that are involved in
chewing, the temporalis muscle and the
pterygoids.

It also is involved with the reflex of ihe
cornea, referred to as a corneal reflex.

Trat's if you touch the cornea, someone
will blink reflexly and that as IN part
monitored through the trigeminal nerve.

So, those were thé kinds of things I
checked, facial sensation, Smneztion in the
mouth.

Is the trigeminal nerve another name for
cranial nerve fivé?

Right. That s the name, The numhars are
really based on nerves as they exlt from the
brain, from the most rostral Or top par+ nf

the brain to the most caudal gr base ©0f the
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that date, Kathleen Nabozny had an abscess or

do you believe that because of this report,
July 25th, 1986, or do you believe that
there's also room to say that there may have
been a cellulitis at that point?
MR. DeSANTIS: Objection.

Well, | suppose --
Is that a distinction without any meaning?
I think so, frankly. I think that really in
this case is -- it's as much as a radiologist
can say on the procedure and really 1t's, |
would think, just difficult for him to say
more than that.

So, he was careful enough to not say more
than he should on the basis of the MRI scan

results.

I don't think the distinction IS terribly
important to support it, from my perspective
anyway .

Where is the pterygopzlatine region and how
does that affect the trigeminal nerve or how
do the two interface?

That"s going to bhe difficult to put on pabPer.
Do the best we can.

The word fossa suggests cavity, The
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pterygopalatine fossa is an area --

And for the record, vou have been nice enough
to bring a skull?

Human skull.

And you're going to point out as you testify,
I imagine, these areas; is that right?

Yes. It is an area that lies underneath and
slightly lateral to the orbital socket, the
eye, and --

How large of an area is it in most humans;
givé yourself a range, if you caré to?

I would say that you could -- we're talking in
perhaps one to two centimeters in this area.
The fossa that we're talking abdut, the
pterygopalatine fossa, then, would be on most
humans beings an area of approximately one to
two centimetérs in size?

Right. Probably the easiest thing to say,
it's deep to the cheekbone.

If an individual puts his finger on the
cheekbone and were to push that finger in, oh,
perhaps four or five centimeters, an inch and
a half or two, one would come in close
proximity to the pterygopalatine fossa.

As I was saying, it 1S sort of tO the
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outside, underneath, if you will, inferior,

slightly lateral and to the posterior part of
the orbit, the eye socket. And that would
place it in an area that would be again an
inch cr two, perhaps three or four or five
even centimeters superior to the wisdom teeth,
the back molars in the upper gum, if that
makes any sense.,

Now, haw does that relate to the
trigeminal nerve? The trigeminal nerve again
isS a three part nerve, tri meaning three;
geminal nerve.

The first division is not In question,
that's the ophthalmic division, It leaves the
skull through the -- into thé back of the eve,
the back of the orbit, to the superior orbital
fissure.

The maxillary division, which is a second
division to the trigeminal nerve, leaves the
inside of the skull through the fbramen
rotundum, okay, the round hole, and that éxits
into the region of the pterygopalatine regioﬁ,
the fossa.

When you say exits --

It enters through that region, it enters
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is that correct?

Correct.

And there are two divisions of the trigeminal
nerve that pasSs IN the are: ~=

Regicn.

-- 0or the region of of this fossa; is that
COrrect?

Correct.

And the two divisions are the maxillary
division :nd the MaNAihular Aiwiecinn:
Correct.

And neither aone of these div-sions actually
pass through the fossa itself, but they either
themselves ar their hrancheS go 1IN the region
of that fossa; is that correct?

Well, the ~-- there would be some branches, the
greater petrosal nerve would be aciually
involvéd with the maxillary division five and
that would come close to being in the
ptérygopalatine fossé.

The petrosal nerve?

Is not involved here.

I°’m only asking you about the nerve that 1is
involved here, which is the trigeminal nerve

and all of its -- some of its divisions

R ome Y e e om W = W 7
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joint.

My feeling 1s that there was probably
abscess formation, but then the term that you
brought up, cellulitis, probably evidence of
inflammation and infection that were located
beyond that area.

For example, the maxillary sinus, we've
already talked about, was opacified and had to
be subsegquently drained, as | understand it,
and that there was probably involvement back
into the region of the temporomandibular
joint, which is near the ear, so that whdle
area was involved and so its difficult, if not
impossible, to define the exact margins.

The actual area of pus was, from the
information I have, localized to the
pterygopalatine fossa, but there weré other
areas of involvement outside of that.

Were you also aware of fluids and pus-like

materials in the sinus?

Yes, in the maxillary sinus.

Do you know which came first, the fluids 1iIn
the sinus or the pus and whatever materials
were in the abscess?

No, no way of knowing. I don”t think -- that
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would be 1mpossible to know.

So, you don't know if this infection started
in the sinus region and then affected the
fossa region?
No, I don't know how it spread.
Are you knowledgeable with respect to what
kind of infection the staphylococcus bacteria
will cause?

In other words, the progress of that sort
of an infection?

MR. DeSANTIS: Objection. Go
ahead and answer, if you can.

You mean whether it's rapid or not so rapid?

Well, it would frankly depend on a series
of things that could haopen. It could be
relatively indolent and stay around for a long
time before becoming evident or it could be a
rapidly progressive. It depends on the host,
resistance and it depends on whether or not
the patient becomes septic, it gets into ﬁhe
bloodstream.

I mean, something like this can go to the
meninges and produce meningitis, so it's a
very difficult gquestion to answer why some

people have an organism that stays localized,
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when the first staphylococcus organism entered

into the tissue and began to multiply.

Can you say when she had the abscess, when the
abscess developed?

When it would be defined as an abscess versus
cellulitis? ©No, NOt precisely.

Can you say When it was cellulitis?

You mean how soon after the dental procedure
did sphe --

Or before the dental procedure. I'm not going
to limit you to time after the dental
procedure.

I suspect thaﬁ IS correct, on the basis of her
history, probably began to have manifestations
of the infection, in retrospect, probably
about three to four days after the dental
extractions,

Okay. And how are you able to say that?

On the basis of the pati;nt's complaints.

What specifically would ihis pa£ien£ have had
three or four days after the dental
extractions?

She would start to develop pain.

What's happening inside, though? IS that when

she had cellulitis three or four days after




*sg®os@e ur ‘=md
Jo ‘TTT® nok 3JT ‘38300d p2zITed0T] juwriy B JoO
juswdoTsa®p Syl SI2Y3} SeM 8I3Y3l 3IBY3 SUTT Y3l
umop 19Yyzang 3eymawos 3zurod e 3 Afqeqoad 3eysy
pue ‘uorjeuweTIul 8SNnsSsST3} pszTIRIdUSD JOo poriad
m,mm3 ERELE umau vwm I13buoT 3JeyMBWOS uIY B
aaey @Hmoz AT1qeqoxd 3ey3l 3yl ‘uorleiIOOSSE
2y3 butwnsse ‘@anpscoad TelUspP 2Y3
19332 sdhep 1noj mu 981Uy} SSIdOSgE FURIJ ® pey
mwwn jJou pTnom B8ys 33eyz aq prnom uorzdunsaiad
£y rumss 10 ST3TINITI®O 10 ssasdosqe pey ays
‘jutod 3eY3} 3I® 32Ul nok TTe3 3IoUURBD I ‘MON
| *JI®S3T 3Is8JTueu 03
ps33Ie3s ss88001d SnOT3O8JUI I8Y UIYM -- pI3ieas
?ys cwnz ST 1833e sfep Inoj 03 @231yl uted
pese81dul 3AvYy 03} pad3IeIsS BYS u3Iym ‘vsuodsai
AzojewweTJul 8yl JO SUOTIRISDBITUBW 2yU3
jo suo butaq 3ey3l ‘uted psseaaour 3o urteTdwoo
03 uebsq ays uaym eyl Hurlstwins we I
« RemAue
3T 19msur 03 L1213 3snl sw 387 ‘TI3Mm -- BYUY
¢Ismsur 03 wiy 33uem nok
Op ®BUO UDTYpM *suotisanb om3 WIY payse
nox -uot3oalqo :SILNVS®d °*dW

SSUOTIORIJIXD @yl

K4

ve

14

<z

1c

oz

61

81

L1

91

ST

P

£T1

<1

11

0T

Jo e —

PRS-




ety

JE——

frowe

e

Ktz

—

oot

w?

~4

10
11

12

frend
W

14

15

P~
(&3]

17

18

1¢9

20

21

22

23

24

25

97
But the exact time course | don't think --

I"m not capable of telling you exactly what

the course was.
(Recess taken.)

Let me refer you to page six where you start
with your comments. I assume, Doctor, that
that's where more or less your opinions come
into play in this report; is that correct?
Observations, opinions.

Conclusions?

Whatever the word comment means, but 1t has
some of all of that,

And in your first paragraph under "Comments,"
you basically are saying that you don't have
any doubt about the organic basis of the
patient's symptom complex?

Correct.

Which means what?

Well, if we were just talking about a
subjective complaint, a patient who comes in
with a headache, there's no way of prooving or

disprooving that on the basis of the history

and physical examination.
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to that. You're mischaracterizing.

Those aren't Dr. Cole's notes. He

testified that somebody else other than

him took those notes and he didn"t know

who,

MR. MEADOR: That"s something you

and I can argue about, | guess,
In any event, that information was e2ither
given to you -- it was given to you by
Kathleen Nabozny, though, ten days after?
Yes, correct.
And you believe the reason why there was
sensory disturbance at that time was because
the -- you say the abscess =-- it says,
"Presumably the abscess had reached a size by
that time to produce compression"?
Yes, | did say that, And probably that"s a
little presumptuous on my part because, again,
to presume the exact mechanism 0Of nerve
involvement, whether Iit: IS compression, direct
inflammatian and damage to the nerve from the
inflammatory response is really unclear.

So, what the exact pathophysiologic

process 1is, whether it's mechanical, 1 really

don®*t know, I probably should have made that
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fever here.

Then this process spreads wWith resultant
necrosis, tissue damage. That, 1in
combination, as I already mentioned before,
with the white blood cells and with the
bacteria, forms actusl pus, that leads to the
formation of the abscess and then around that
abscess certainly there would be abnormal
tissue; i.e., inflammation, cellulitis.

So, that would have gone beyond the

again by the actual compression of the abscess
being consumed by the abscess, necrosis, other
Consumed?
Wwell, with the abscess corning around and
literally destroying the nerve or whether it
would be just the cellulitis with INnflammation
and death of the axons and Schwann cells which
surround the axons and the nerve itself by
compromising blood supply or what have you, I
don"t know.

I don"t think anybody can be certain of
that. So, as | say, that probably 1is not a

necessarily incorrect statement, but Iit"s

A
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probably overly simplistic.

Can we say to a reasonable dzgree of medical
certainty that the ~- when the compression
started on the nerve?

No, I can"t say.

You can't say that it started ten days after
the dental extractions?

Well, I would say there was involvement of the
nerve ten days after the dental extractions
and that was what was producing her numbness.
But you're not going to say to a reaéonable
degreé of médical certainty that the
compression started on the nerve itsélf ten
days after the dental extractions?

I probably shouldn"t say that because I'm
presuming a mechanism that I can"t really
defend.

I ﬁnderstand, So, you can"t say that thé
compression started ten days after the
extractions to a reasonable degreé of medical
certainty?

Or whethér it was with inflammation or what,
that 1S correct,

Okay. Take a look at the last page of your

report, page seven.
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was recognized 15 days postoperatively, being

that tha2t's the time that Dr. Cole examined
her; is that correct?
MR, DeSANTIS: Objection. Go
ahead and answer.

Is that your assumption, though, by that?
I'1l be glad to show you Dr. Cole's records.
I just need the dates. That's all I would
answer.

July 8th was the surgery, Monroe Cole's
examination wés the 15th -- I'm sorry, the
23rd and that"s 15 days later,

Okay. That"s what you're basing that on,

then?

Yes.

So, Dr. Cole recognized the problep 15 days
after surgery.

You're saying that the permanént damage
that she had might not have occurre¢d if it had
been recognized earlier; IS khat correct?

Yes, that 1s correct,
You're not saying as to when Dr. Chepla should
have¢ recognized the problem?

MR. D¢ SANTIS: Objection. Go

ahead and answer.
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have had permanent injury, if, say, for

example, it was discovered nine days after the
extractions?

Yes, 1it's more probable that she would not
have had injury if it was discovered nine or
ten days afterwards versus fifteen.

You're not going to say nine days, you're
going to say nine or ten days?

Well, these -- you know, to give an hourly,
almost, course doesn't -- isn't fair to either
side. You just can't be mwmn precise.

Right.

I can't give you a point in time, presuming
that everything is stated here absolutely
correctly about onset of times, and so monwsﬁ
when treatment would have prevented neurologic
compromise. I can't say with mumowcwm
certainty.

It is obvious that the sooner treatment
began, the less likely msw would have
developed :mcnowomwo problems. No om@ swww
dispute that.

If she had been treated the day mmnmn
mcnamnw. no one disputes that the neurologic

problems could have been avoided, as long as
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we're playing with days and numbers. Where in

that continuum after that that treatment of
the infection would have guaranteed or almost
guaranteed that there wouldn't have besn a
development of a neurologic problem is so hard
to =--
I'm not asking for guarantees. When does it
go over the 50 percent mark iIn terms of what
day, if you can do that? If yaw can®, that's
You, yourself, have already, early oOn 1In this
deposition given one of the problems. This IS
a rare situation and when you're dealing with
a rare situation, it Is difficult to talk in
terms of what is precise.

If it had happenad thousands Of times,
then you could say with greater certainty.
I'm telling you that 1t would be my impression
or that I think with probability that had this
been treated nine to ten days out, somewhere
in that vicinity, that you very likely could
have avoided neurologic compromise.
Treated nine or ten days, or are you talking
about diagnosed, because there is a delay
here? You notice that even Dr. Cole, as

astute as he was, he found the problem or had

-~
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a preliminary idea of what it might be 15 days

postoperatively, but it wasn't until the 17th
day that they actually started with an
antibiotic?

But that's the problem that one would face in
his institution. He probably couldn't get an
MRI scan for two days.

Hillcrest does not have an MRI scanner.
Patient had to be sent off premises,
scheduling and that sort of thing. Héd he
béen working at Univérsity Hospitals,

Mt. Sinai, the Cleveland Clinic, diagnosis
very probably would have been made the same
day. That's just the way that things are.

It's not his fault. It"s the
circumstances of tha time of 19, what, '86
when this took place. MRI was a rélaﬁively
new procedure and not so éasil& available.

So that the two days ieally comes down to
he made the diagnosis In his office and then
he started the wheels rolling of trying to
prove the diagnosis and that: is a function of
radiology, the individual hospital, how fast
you can get tests done, all those kinds of

things. That's why i1t took so long.
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There was no delay in the diagnosis 1In

terms of him having to thirk of new things to
do. He knew right where he was going, he just
kept throwing tests at her until he proved the
diagnosis and that did take two days 1In his
setting where, in another setting, It may have
been taken hours,

What was the first step that was taken here to
fight this 1nfection?

In terms Of treatment?

Yes.

Oh, boy, I'm not sure 1 know without Idoking
over the notes, but the very first step was --
I honestly don't know What the exact orders of
treatment, how It took place. I really didn"t.
address myself €00 much to that.

It was sort of outside my area of
expertise. | can look at the notes as well as
you and tell you -- try to piece together from
the progress notes what he d4id step by step if
that"s What you Want me to do.

No, that's all right. Let me see if |
understand your opinion,

If nine or ten days after the extractions

Kathleen Nabozny had gotten whatever the first
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step of treatment was, she would not have had,

more probably than not, she would not have had
any permanent injury?

MR, DeSANTIS: Objection. Go
ahead and answer that If you agree to
the characterization.

Well, what you're saying, If the diagnosis had
been made and treatment started a week earlier
than was the case, would she have developed
her problems and the answer is: My suspicion
is no.
And your suspicion IS more thah 50 percent?
Yes.
Okay. Why, when you wrote your report, you
indicate that had the problem been recognized
sooner than 15 days postoperatively, she might
not have been left with permanent damage, why
did you use the terms "might not" instead of
“probébly not"?
Well, we're getting Into semantics, aren't we,
semantics of the legal system and semantics of
the medical system.

I am -- outside this deposition, theré
might not -- 1 would doubt that "might" and

"probably" have much specificity and
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neurologist.

Mfuch power to Dr. Cole for making the
diagnosis, but the situation had gone too far
at that point.

When do you think that the diagnosis should

have been made?

Well, okay. This 1S going to be a difficult
issue and I suspect will become the crux of

the debate that will go on in court.

The thing that bothered me was that this
woman had chronic eomplaints -- started
developing complaints three to four days, 1In
that vicinity, after her procedure, and was
having problems throughout that time, was
treated at one point with antibiotics, but
nobody sat down and said, "What's going on
here? This lady 1S not getting better, she's
developing more symptomatology. Let's take a
look at this."

That's what 1 think should have happéned
in the best of all possible wbrlds.

And you think that niné or ten daYs after thé
extractions, that had she gotten thése -- the
treatment, and we havén‘t said what the

treatment is because you're not that familiar
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Nothing you can do about that.

The situation is it was Zdelayed in terms --
she doesn't get the specific treatment until
the 25th and I think that is too long,

I think this should have been -- there
should have been efforts to uncover this
before the 15th, other than giving nonspecific
antibiotic therapy for somebody who has
evolving symptoms of the face.

You've had a chance to read Dr. Mann"s report
regarding this matter?
Yes.
How do you differ with his report?
MR. DeSANTIS: Let me interject.
Once again, he just received that
report.
MR. MEADOR: I understand that.
MR. DeSANTIS: And perused through
it. If hé's willing to comment on it --
MR. MEADOR: Well, just object. I
would appreciate it if you™d just
object.
MR. DeSANTIS: Welf, | just want
it clear on the record that 1f you're

going to ask him guestions about a
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MR, MEADOR: He can say that. You

don't have to say that for him.

MR. Da2SANTIS: I sure do. What do
you think 1"m here for? I'm here to
protect the record and one oOf those
things is to advise him that he doesn't
have tu answer your questions about a
report that he hasn"t had an
opportunity to study --

MR. MEADOR: He"s a witness. He's
not your client.

MR. DeSANTIS: I don't care if
he's a witness or my client. I'm here
to represent my client and if part of
that Is to instruct him that he doesh't
have to answer guestions about a report
that he hasn"t had a chance to study,

I'm going to do that.

Il will comment, first of all, if | may say
something. I'm not his witness, from my
perspective, as a neurologist. I am making

the opinion and 1 would be making the same
opinion if he calls me or if you call me.

If I can"t say that, then I better not

come to court again.
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have happened, that this patient goes to a

neurologist and has some sensory symptoms and
also ends up having some involvement with the
7tt nerve, some motor phenomenonology as well.

After she had had some complaints for a
period of time and for, what, approximately
ten days before, she goes to a neurologist or
is asked to see a neurologist. Il don't think
she was referred to a neurologist. That --
Dr. Mann 1S correct that the neurologic
phenomenonology on that was probably quite
mental before that. This woman had pain, this
woman had problems 1In her face and they were
not being addressed.

I would hope at that point she had no
neurologic phenomenonlogy. IT she did, then
there really is an egregious problem.

My presumption 1is the neurologic findings
are late in their findings, but that the
infection had gune too far by the time she
developed the neurologic problems.

I disagree with Dr. Mann, as much as I've
had the opportunity to review his report, 1in
that I think that this should have been

identified and the process of trying to figure
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Now, had she been referred to a neurologist in

three or four days, | don"t know that Monrd®

Cole could have made the diagnosis. Knowing
him, b probably would have.

3 capn"t b.. sure about that, that's pure
speculation on my part, but something should
have been going on to try to stop this or at
least try to get to the bottom of this.

Nothing was done, there were no diagnostic
procedures instigated.

You're not going to say when, but you just
think something should have been done?

Yeah, I think it's difficult to precisely say
whether the fourth 4day or the fifth day or the
sixth day or the third day, but I am bothered
by the information that I have, three to four
days out, she developed pain and other
symptoms and she should have -- those symptoms
should have been addressed.

What other information have vou had regarding
preparing your opinion, other than the
materials you reviewed here?

You just referenced a comment that
Mrs. Nabozny was talked to about seeing a

neurologist at an earlier date than when she




PAGE 128 MISSING IN ORIGINAL



l0

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

129

rkay.

i},

I didn't mean to suggest that.

MR. MEADOR: Well, we finally
endec¢ this, I think. Thank you very
much. You have a right to read it, if
you'd like to.

THE WITNESS: Thank you, no.

—— - —

(Signature waived.)




